






































































































































































































































GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF VISITORS 

Audit Committee 
December 8, 2016 

Merten Hall, Fairfax Campus 

A G E N D A 

I. Call to Order

II. Approval of Audit Committee Minutes
A. Approval of Committee Minutes for October 13, 2016 Meeting (ACTION) C-3

III. New Business
A. Research Update

IV. Reports
A. Internal Audit Summary Report C-5

B. Report of Approved Waivers of Contractual Conflicts of Interest C-21

V. Adjournment

C-1



(This page was left blank intentionally.) 

C-2



DRAFT – Subject to Revision 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
OF THE BOARD OF VISITORS 

October 13, 2016 
Merten Hall 

MINUTES 

PRESENT: Chair Corley; Vice Chair Gruner; Visitors Hazel and Peterson. 
Rector Davis; Provost Wu; Senior Vice President Davis; Assistant Vice 
President Dade; Director French; Vice President Harber; University Counsel 
Moncure; Chief of Staff Neville; Chief Ethics Officer Woodley; Assistant Vice 
President Zobel; Director Dittmeier; and Secretary pro tem Thompson 

ABSENT: Visitor Schar 

I. Chair Corley called the meeting to order at 8:50 a.m.

II. Closed Session

Visitor Peterson MOVED and Visitor Gruner SECONDED that the Committee
go into Closed Session under the provisions of Section 2.2-3711.A.1 to discuss
personnel matters and 2.2-3705.2.4 to discuss critical infrastructure
vulnerability assessment information. There was no discussion.
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE.

Visitor Gruner MOVED and Visitor Hazel SECONDED that the committee go
back into public session and it was further moved that by ROLL CALL VOTE
affirm that only public business matters lawfully exempted from the open
meeting requirements under the Freedom of Information Act were heard,
discussed, or considered in the Closed Session, and that only such business
matters that were identified in the motion to go into Closed Session were heard,
discussed, or considered in the Closed Session.

Roll call was taken with all present members responding in the affirmative.

III. Approval of Minutes

Chair Corley called for a motion to approve the minutes of the May 5, 2016
Audit Committee meeting. The motion was MOVED by Visitor Peterson and
SECONDED by Visitor Gruner.
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE.

C-3



AUDIT COMMITTEE 
October 13, 2016 
Page 2 

IV. New Business

A. Approval of Audit Committee Charter
The Committee discussed proposed revisions to the Audit Committee
Charter, including revisions which reinforce the Committee’s function as
oversight and introduce a responsibility related to the Committee’s oversight
of the University’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and
regulations. The Committee noted that University Counsel had confirmed
the proposed revisions are aligned with the University’s by-laws.Visitor
Hazel MOVED and Visitor Gruner SECONDED that the Audit Committee
Charter be approved.
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE.

B. Approval of Internal Audit Department Charter
Mr. Dittmeier reviewed with the Committee the Internal Audit Department
Charter. He also confirmed the organizational independence of Internal
Audit. After discussion by the Committee, Visitor Gruner MOVED and
Visitor Hazel SECONDED that the Internal Audit Charter be approved.
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE.

V. Reports

Mr. Dittmeier reviewed with the Committee the Report of Internal Audit and
Management Services. Three audit reports were issued since the last meeting:
two related to construction procurement and one related to federally sponsored
program reconciliation processes. Management continues to make progress to
remediate 13 outstanding audit issues, although some remediation has been
delayed due to recent transitions in responsibilities. He reviewed the status of
in-progress and planned audit and investigative projects as well as the level of
FY17 financial and staffing resources.

Mr. Dittmeier reviewed with the Committee Internal Audit’s process for
determining audit priorities in a flexible, risk-based manner using a frequently
refreshed audit risk assessment. Chair Corley stated this approach is a
significant improvement in the way the risk assessment drives how Internal
Audit spends its time.

VI. Adjournment
Chair Corley declared the meeting adjourned at 10:00 a.m.

Respectfully submitted, 
Karen Thompson 
Karen Thompson 
Secretary pro tem 

C-4



C-5

Internal Audit 
and Management Services

Report to the Audit Committee of the Board of Visitors 

December 8, 2016 



C-6

(This page was left blank intentionally.) 



C-7

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

• No audit reports have been issued since the last meeting.

• Remediation of 11 audit issues is in progress as of November 15, 2016:
• Most issues relate to information technology.  Management has re-assessed target dates

for these issues in light of overall business priorities.
• Five issues have current target remediation dates through early 2017.

• Audit Plan status:
• Substantially on track with 3+6 Audit Plan approved at the prior meeting.

• Status of fraud, waste, and abuse investigations:
• Two were completed since the prior meeting; there are no investigations in progress.
• All are isolated in nature.

• Audit staffing remains stable with no changes since the prior Committee meeting.  Co-
sourced resources remain available to provide supplemental skilled expertise when needed.



C-8

(This page was left blank intentionally.) 



C-9

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Topic 

1 SUMMARY OF INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS 
• No reports have been issued since the prior Committee meeting.

2 SUMMARY STATUS OF AUDIT ISSUES 

3 STATUS OF AUDIT PLAN 

4 STATUS OF INVESTIGATIONS 

5 STAFFING 

6 APPENDIX: 
• Audit Issue Details



C-10

SUMMARY OF INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS 

No reports have been issued since the prior Committee meeting. 



C
-11

STATUS OF AUDIT ISSUES AS OF NOVEMBER 15, 2016 

There were 11 open audit issues as of November 15, 2016.  Remediation of two audit issues was completed by management since 
September 2016.  

Audit Issue Inventory Movement Audit Issues by Type Audit Issues by Current Target 

Audit Report Report Date Jun 2016 New Closed  Sep 2016 New Closed Nov 2016 

Facilities Management - General Services 9/15/16 - 1 1 - - 1 

Construction Procurement:  Robinson Renovation & Utility Distribution 7/22/16 - 1 1 - (1) 0 

Housing Operations and Purchasing 7/20/16 - 1 (1) 0 - - 0 

Federally Sponsored Program Reconciliations 5/24/16 2 2 - - 2 

Construction Procurement:  Academic VII/Health & Human Services 5/17/16 3 (3) 0 - - 0 

Analysis of Mason Sexual Harassment and Misconduct Policy and Procedures 12/18/15 1 - (1) 0 - - 0 

Laboratory Safety 12/17/15 2 - (2) 0 - - 0 

Decentralized IT Management and Security: Office of the Provost 10/23/15 4 - - 4 - (1) 3 

MESA Technical Point of Contact and Share Administration Account Management 9/10/15 1 - (1) 0 - - 0 

Decentralized Servers:  College of Humanities and Social Sciences 11/14/13 1 - - 1 - - 1 

Information Security Management:  Boundary Protection 9/9/13 1 - - 1 - - 1 

Enterprise Project Management Framework and System 3/28/13 2 - (1) 1 - - 1 

Decentralized Servers:  College of Science 8/18/11 1 - - 1 - - 1 

SEC 501-01 IT Security Audits Prior to Level II Status (2008-2010) 8/30/10 1 - - 1 - - 1 

19 3 (9) 13 0 (2) 11 

0

5

10

15

20

Open at
Jun 30,
2016

Closed New Open at
Sep 15,

2016

Closed New Open at
Nov 15,

2016

# 
of

 Is
su

es 8

2

1

Technology Process Policy/Contract

0

5

2
3

1

0

2

4

6

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

2016 2017

# 
of

 Is
su

es

Current Target

19 
2 

9 

11 13 
3 



C
-12

STATUS OF AUDIT PLAN AS OF NOVEMBER 15, 2016 
The 3+6 Audit Plan as of November 15, 2016 (bottom bars) is compared with the status as of the prior Committee meeting (top bars).  
(Note:  The status of work is shown as follows:  in progress = green bars, and planned = yellow bars) 



C
-13

STATUS OF INVESTIGATIONS AS OF NOVEMBER 10, 2016 

Two investigations were completed since the prior Committee meeting; both were isolated in nature with negligible impact to the 
University. 

Nature of Allegation Type Status Remarks 

Timesheet Falsification Fraud Completed 
Timesheet Falsification Fraud Completed 

Summary of Types: 
• Fraud = Intentional deception which could result in a benefit to the perpetrator, others, or the Commonwealth or could cause detriment to others or the

Commonwealth.  Fraud includes a false representation of a matter of fact, whether by words or by conduct, by false or misleading statements, or by
concealment of that which should have been disclosed, which deceives or is intended to deceive.  E.g., falsifying financial records to cover up theft.

• Waste = Careless expenditure, mismanagement, use, or squandering of Commonwealth resources to the actual or potential detriment of the Commonwealth.
Includes unnecessary costs due to inefficient or ineffective practices, systems, or controls.  E.g., unnecessary spending of state funds for no business purpose.

• Abuse = Excessive or improper use of something contrary to natural or legal rules for its use.  Intentional destruction, diversion, manipulation, misapplication,
mistreatment, or misuse of Commonwealth resources.  Excessive use as to abuse one’s position or authority.  E.g., Use of state assets for non-state business.



C
-14

STAFFING RESOURCES 

Audit staffing remains stable with no changes since the prior Committee meeting.  Co-sourced resources remain available to provide 
supplemental skilled expertise when needed. 

Organization Staffing 

Actual 

Core Audit Team Plan 
a/o July 

2016 
a/o Oct 
2016 

Audit Leadership 2 2 2 
Auditors by Expertise: 
  Operational Audit 2 2 2 
  IT Audit 1 1 1 
  Fraud Audit 1 1 1 
Total Audit Professional Employees 6 6 6 
Cosourced FTE* Supported by Permanent Budget 1.1 0.2 
Total Audit Professionals Supported by Permanent 
Budget 7.1 6.0 6.2 
Cosourced FTE* Supported by FY17 Temporary 
Budget 1.3 
Audit Professionals Supported by FY17 Budget 8.4 6.0 6.2 

Note:  * = Cosourced FTE are estimated based on actual hours provided by 
cosourced resources and a 1,500 hour/FTE rate. 



C
-15

APPENDIX:  AUDIT ISSUE DETAILS AS OF NOVEMBER 10, 2016 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

1 Report Name:  
Federally Sponsored 
Program Reconciliations 

Report Date:  5/24/16 

Management:   Lisa 
Kemp, Associate Vice 
President and 
Controller, Fiscal 
Services 

Evaluate Process and Staffing Inconsistencies 
Related to Sponsored Fund Reconciliations: 
Principal Investigators (PIs) are required to 
certify that sponsored program fund 
expenditures are made for the intended purpose 
of the grant in accordance with sponsor 
requirements and university policies and 
procedures. PIs are also required to ensure that 
fund reconciliations are completed at least every 
two months and are supported by appropriate 
documentation. Generally, Colleges apply 
various staffing models to allocate varying levels 
and methods of administrative resources in 
support of PIs’ accomplishment of these 
responsibilities. We observed that reconcilers 
possess varying levels of job responsibilities, 
workloads, backgrounds, skills, experience, and 
training. Reconcilers based in Colleges report, 
ultimately, to Deans and Directors. No reconciler 
has a reporting relationship to Fiscal Services or 
the Office of Sponsored Programs, although 
monthly reconciliation training activities and on-
demand technical support are provided.  We also 
observed inconsistencies in reconciliation 
timeliness and quality; these results are 
consistent with our 2013 internal audit and 
external reviews in 2014 and 2015.  In addition, 
all fund reconciliation activities for 130 of 179 
(73%) Volgenau School of Engineering grants, 
valued at $32 million, are performed by 59 PIs 
(faculty members). 

Management should evaluate the design and 
operating effectiveness of the university’s 
structure and processes to ensure fund 
reconciliations are completed timely, supported 

The Office of Sponsored Programs and Controller 
continue to evaluate the design and operating 
effectiveness of the Mason’s research 
administration infrastructure. The evaluation is 
being coordinated with the Vice President for 
Research, Senior Vice President for 
Administration and Finance, Deans and Directors, 
the University Research Council, and other senior 
leaders to assess and document the administrative 
support available to perform fund reconciliations 
and other research administration functions so as 
to provide senior administrators with a better 
understanding of the resources available, level of 
experience of staff, training needs and staffing 
deficiencies.  

The Office of Sponsored Programs, Controller, 
Deans, and Directors continue to review roles and 
responsibilities to determine the appropriate level 
of responsibility and accountability related to fund 
reconciliation and other research administration 
functions and determine the most appropriate 
staffing models, the correct balance of central 
versus decentralized support, and an adequate 
level of monitoring and reporting on university-
wide reconciliation quality and exposure related to 
reconciling items.  

The Office of Sponsored Programs is determining 
the feasibility of implementing a formal training 
certificate program to supplement existing training 
and professional development offerings for 
research administrators across the university.  

1/15/17 1/15/17 



C
-16

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

with appropriate documentation, and that 
reconciling items (including transactions which 
have not yet been recorded) are promptly 
researched and resolved. In making this 
evaluation, management should consider, among 
other things, organization and accountability 
structures; staffing models and resources; job 
roles, responsibilities, and workloads; skills, 
experience, and training; monitoring and 
reporting university-wide reconciliation quality 
and exposure related to reconciling items; and 
the potential for automation improvements. The 
appropriateness of performance of fund 
reconciliations by PIs should also be evaluated. 

2 Report Name:  
Federally Sponsored 
Program Reconciliations 

Report Date:  5/24/16 

Management:   Lisa 
Kemp, Associate Vice 
President and 
Controller, Fiscal 
Services 

Evaluate Adequacy of University Policy 
#2114, Reconciling Departmental and 
Sponsored Fund Accounting Records and 
Related Procedures: 
The Policy was originally approved in December 
2010 and was revised most recently in March 
2016. Although the Policy substantially 
addresses essential elements for effective 
reconciliations, we believe further enhancements 
are required related to:  the sufficiency of 
requiring fund reconciliations at least every two 
months; the timeliness of reconciliation 
preparation, approval, and certification by PI; the 
process for approval of deviations from Policy 
standards; and the timeliness for clearing 
reconciling items. 

Fiscal Services continues to work with the Office 
of Sponsored Programs and solicit input from the 
Mason community to review and evaluate the 
Policy, including defining precisely the 
appropriate time frame for reconciliation 
preparation and certification as well as a deadline 
for clearing and/or escalating reconciling items.  
The Policy will be revised based on this 
evaluation. 

1/15/17 1/15/17 

3 Report Name:  
Facilities Management – 
General Services 

Report Date:  9/15/16 

Management:   Thomas 
Calhoun, Vice President, 
Facilities 

Strengthen Fuel Card Program Controls: 
At management’s request, we evaluated controls 
related to the university’s fuel card usage 
program.  The design of the program is 
susceptible to abuse and, as such, requires 
effective monitoring procedures to be in place. 
Starting July 2016, management is implementing 
new, enhanced procedures to administer and 

Starting July 2016, Facilities Management 
implemented new procedures where supervisors of 
some of the Facilities units are required to certify 
the fuel purchases for their specific units by 
validating each fuel purchase transaction on the 
Mansfield report to a fuel purchase receipt on file. 
In addition, exception reports are now run 
selectively to perform follow-up on exceptional 
transactions.  

1/15/17 1/15/17 



C
-17

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

manage the program. Management also needs to 
ensure that: 
• Controls that align with DGS Office of Fleet

Management Services guidance are
implemented for administering and monitoring
fuel purchase activity for all units using
university vehicles, including spot checks.

• Validation of purchases with receipts is
obtained from all units prior to authorization
of invoice payment.

• Complete usage information, including
odometer readings, is recorded on fuel logs to
assist in monitoring the appropriateness of fuel
charges.

• Standard policy and procedures are developed
and provided to all Facilities units and other
university departments that use fuel cards.

Facilities Management continues to develop 
standardized policy and guidance procedures for 
training purposes for all university departments 
that utilize fuel cards. These enhanced procedures 
will ensure that appropriate internal controls are 
implemented including: recording complete 
information on the fuel logs with the odometer 
readings and obtaining certification from all unit 
supervisors (based on validation of fuel card 
purchases to fuel receipts) prior to authorization of 
invoice payment.  

4 Report Name:  
SEC501-01 IT Security 
Audits Prior to Level II 
Status (2008-2010) 

Report Date:  8/30/12 

Management:   Charles 
Spann, Executive 
Director, Information 
Technology Services 

Current Documentation for Back-Up and 
Restore, Data Replication: 
Although Information Technology Services has 
some formal documented policies and 
procedures regarding backups performed in the 
Data Center, documentation is inconsistent, 
unclear, and incomplete related to critical 
systems and sub-systems identified in the IT 
Disaster Recovery documents.  There should be 
adequate, centralized back-up information on 
each system and sub-system in the Disaster 
Recovery documents, including back-up 
schedules, media, location, and responsible 
person(s) for each system and sub-system. 

Information Technology Services will use the 
agreed-upon system prioritizations developed by 
Environmental Health and Safety (EHS) to align 
the ITS Disaster Recovery / Continuity of 
Operations Plan with those priorities.  EHS 
completed their work in March 2016 and, based on 
those priorities, ITS expects to complete 
documentation of plans for priority business 
functions, critical software dependencies, and their 
backup mechanisms by January 2017. 

3/31/11 1/31/17 

5 Report Name: 
Information Security 
Management: Boundary 
Protection 

Report Date: 9/09/13 

Review of Firewall Configurations: 
Firewall configurations are currently not being 
reviewed and re-authorized on a cyclic basis. 
Without a formal process to periodically review 
and re-authorize firewall configurations, the 
university cannot ensure that rule bases are 
adequate and/or still required. 

In 2015, the IT Security Office and Network 
Engineering and Technology (NET) determined it 
was appropriate to build a new security zone 
architecture and firewall framework for servers.  
The new architecture is expected to (i) reduce the 
number of rules specific to servers as well as the 
total number of rules, (ii) create a more stable and 
supportable firewall rule set, (iii) provide for rule 

1/31/14 1/31/17 



C
-18

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

Management: Marilyn 
Smith 
Vice President/Chief 
Information Officer, 
Information Technology 
Services 

set documentation and maintenance, and (iv) 
provide for assessment of firewall rule adequacy 
and lifecycle management.   

NET is in the process of associating IT assets with 
firewall rule sets and security zones. This activity 
is expected to be completed by January 2017.  
Once completed, NET will develop and implement 
a plan to work with owners of the IT assets, within 
and outside of ITS, to transfer ownership of the 
security requirements and, where necessary, adjust 
the firewall rule sets. 

6 Report Name: Office of 
the Provost: 
Decentralized IT 
Management and 
Security 

Report Date:  10/23/15 

Management: Thomas 
Shifflett, Director, 
Information Technology 
Services Enterprise 
Applications 

Design and Document Development 
Methodologies and Procedures: 
The Provost IT Team has only recently begun to 
develop a framework of activities, 
documentation, and project management for 
system or software acquisition or development 
on behalf of Provost area units requesting their 
services. Project development life cycle or 
project management techniques have been 
executed ad hoc using informally communicated 
expectations of standards. While there are 
numerous development methodologies and none 
are one size fits all, good development and 
project management standards is the strongest 
control to help avoid primary causes of project 
failures.  

The Provost IT Team’s original intent was to 
leverage Information Technology Services’ design 
documentation and methodology.  The Provost IT 
assets and operations were merged with ITS in 
July 2016.  As part of this transition, management 
is working to develop and document appropriate 
system design documentation reflective of the 
design methodologies currently in use; this is 
expected to be completed by April 2017. 

4/30/16 4/30/17 

7 Report Name:  
Decentralized Servers:  
College of Science 

Report Date:  08/18/11 

Management:  Peggy 
Agouris, Dean, College 
of Science 

IT System Hardening: 
College of Science does not require system 
administrators to harden systems according to 
accepted standards such as the National Institute 
of Standards and Technology. The College 
should establish and enforce policy to require 
system administrators to configure systems, 
based on risk, to appropriate security baselines.  

A configuration assessment was implemented to 
address hardening of new systems. This process 
will be automated using the university’s IT 
Security Office-managed centralized governance, 
risk management, and compliance tool, which is 
expected to be deployed by February 2017.  
Management expects to complete assessments and 
harden baselines within three months of the tool 
being deployed.  

12/31/13 5/31/17 

8 Report Name:  
Enterprise Project 

Metrics Based Project Management: Information Technology Services management 
continues to re-assess the appropriate process for 

9/30/13 7/31/17 



C
-19

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

Management 
Framework and System 

Report Date:  3/28/13 

Management:   Charles 
Spann, Executive 
Director, Information 
Technology Services 

A cost estimation and tracking mechanism is not 
in place to determine and track time and costs to 
complete IT projects.  Such a mechanism can 
support improved comparative analysis, decision 
making about future projects, and project 
monitoring and control. 

making decisions regarding sizing and undertaking 
IT projects, including the appropriate level of 
consideration for time and cost, and tracking and 
reporting actual performance. ITS management 
has implemented a process to identify a high level 
estimate of project cost (product/people) for every 
ITS project by requiring completion of the Project 
Criteria Worksheet. This is the first step in 
generating awareness of Sponsors, Project Owners 
and Project Managers of the required cost 
components. ITS will leverage this information to 
improve the estimation accuracy. By July 2017, 
ITS expects to pilot tracking of labor hours on a 
limited subset of projects and, based on the pilot, 
plan expansion to a wider range of projects. 

9 Report Name:  
Decentralized Servers:  
College of Humanities 
and Social Sciences 

Report Date:  11/14/13 

Management:   
Deborah Boehm-Davis, 
Dean, College of 
Humanities and Social 
Sciences 

Considerations Over Use of Cloud Services: 
Individuals in some departments have 
independently contracted for varying levels of 
internet “cloud” services for their programs’ web 
sites. These services ranged from: 
• Fully hosted websites (such as GoDaddy or

Wordpress which include domain name
registration, content management application,
infrastructure or “middleware”, and physical
server on which all of this resides).

• Arrangements for middleware and server
(such as Engine Yard)

• Physical server only (such as Amazon EC2).

Use of certain services can involve 
subcontracting of services to additional vendors 
with little or no transparency of terms.  While 
such services may provide users with low cost, 
high immediacy advantages, they may also 
present vulnerabilities to known and frequently 
exploited security flaws, contract obligations 
contrary to Virginia procurement law, and 
responsibilities and related costs for full 

Central CHSS IT staff continues to encourage 
individual CHSS units to utilize Information 
Technology Services rather than host systems 
separately and to follow university standards and 
procedures.  The commercially-hosted 
CHSSWeb’s highest risk, the lack of security 
surrounding user logins, has been mitigated by the 
use of Mason’s Central Authentication Service.  
CHSSWeb will be migrated to Mason’s new 
centralized content management system within the 
next two years, according to the project’s 
university-wide schedule. The university’s project 
team is holding monthly project status meetings.  

10/31/14 8/31/17 



C
-20

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

compliance with university’s security and 
architectural standards. 

10 Report Name: Office of 
the Provost: 
Decentralized IT 
Management and 
Security 

Report Date:  10/23/15 

Management: Thomas 
Shifflett, Director, 
Information Technology 
Services Enterprise 
Applications 

Formalize Periodic IT Security Risk 
Management Activities: 
The Provost IT Team has not yet developed a 
standard set of IT security risk assessment 
activities, consisting of evaluating assets to 
prioritize their significance according to a 
structured business impact analysis process; 
performing a documented risk and vulnerability 
analysis on the assets to identify issues needing 
remediation; and executing the remediation. Risk 
assessments should be performed every three 
years or earlier, whenever material changes are 
made to systems.   

After beginning to develop their own solutions to 
effective IT security risk assessment activities, the 
Provost IT Team determined that use of the 
university’s IT Security Office-managed 
centralized governance, risk management, and 
compliance product would be a more effective 
solution and began working to gather appropriate 
system information.  The Provost IT assets and 
operations were merged with ITS in July 2016.  As 
part of this transition, management is using ITSO 
vulnerability scanning tools on these assets.  The 
ITSO’s GRC tool, which is expected to be 
deployed by February 2017, will be leveraged to 
perform and document security risk management 
activities. 

4/30/16 9/30/17 

11 Report Name: Office of 
the Provost: 
Decentralized IT 
Management and 
Security 

Report Date:  10/23/15 

Management: Thomas 
Shifflett, Director, 
Information Technology 
Services Enterprise 
Applications 

Develop and Document Continuity of 
Operations Plan (COOP) and Disaster 
Recovery (DR) Plan: 
Because the Provost IT Team’s environment is 
hosted on ITS VMWare equipment, they are 
afforded access to backups prepared by ITS’ 
Server Support Group which image and store 
VMWare contents on separate media. However, 
the Provost IT Team has not yet completed a 
fully operational plan and procedures for 
accessing the backups and restoring service. 
Additionally, COOP/DR requirements have not 
been formalized and restorations have not been 
tested with the combined cooperation among 
their office, ITS, and the Provost IT users.   

Provost IT assets and operations were merged with 
ITS in July 2016.  As part of this transition, the 
Provost IT servers and applications will be 
migrated into the ITS operating environment.  As 
this migration is completed, the applications and 
data will be integrated into ITS backup and 
recovery facilities and plans. 

7/31/16 3/31/18 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: George Mason University Board of Visitors 

THRU: Ángel Cabrera, President, George Mason University 

FROM: George Mason University Office of the President  
Elizabeth Woodley, University Ethics Officer and Policy Manager 

RE: Contractual Conflict of Interest Waivers 

Pursuant to the Board of Visitors Resolution of August 1, 2014, the following is a report 
            of the Contractual Conflict of Interest Waivers granted between 12/1/2015 and  
            12/1/2016:  

I. Waivers granted by the University Ethics Officer and Policy Manager pursuant to Virginia
Code § 2.2-3106.C.2, stating that the dual employment of immediate family members is 
in the best interest of the University (including waivers granted in previous years): 

A. Paul Ammann and Rebecca Hartley
B. Aurali Dade and Damon Dade
C. Houman Homayoun and Setareh Rafatirad
D. Cing-Dao (Steve) Kan and Chi Yang
E. Vera Lichtenberg and Scott Martin
F. Henry Butler and Paige Butler
G. Abigi Id-Deen and Kia Davis
H. Rick Davis and Julie Thompson
I. Peggy Agouris and Anthony Stefanidis
J. Jeffrey A. Davis and Jennifer Wagner Davis
K. Kirsten J. McLagan and Frank Neville

II. Waivers approved by the President of George Mason University and the Vice President for
Research pursuant to Virginia Code § 2.2-3106: 

A. Alec D. Barker, Group W Inc— Approval period: 11/30/2015--11/30/2017
B. Ali A. Weinstein, Inova Health System— Approval period: 12/14/2015--

11/30/2017
C. James Kinter, Institute of Global Environment and Society (IGES)— Approval

period: 11/12/2015--6/30/2016
D. Jagadish Shukla, IGES— Approval period: 11/11/2015--6/30/2016
E. Liping Di, General Science and Technology Solutions, Inc. (GSTS)—

Approval period: 5/1/2016--4/30/2019
F. Sherry Crissman, Aer Potentia, LLC— Approval period: 6/10/2016--7/10/2016
G. Emanuel F. Petricoin, Perthera Inc.— Approval period: 8/1/2016--9/1/2017
H. Xinyuan Wang, CyberRock, Inc.— Approval period: 9/1/2016--3/1/2017

C-21



Pursuant to the Board of Visitors Resolution of February 4, 2015, the following is a  
            report of information regarding Dr. Elizabeth F. “Beth” Cabrera during the fiscal year 
            beginning July 1, 2015: 

I. Total payment to Dr. Beth Cabrera by the University: $22,969.00

II. All graduate, professional and continuing education courses of instruction for which Dr. Beth
Cabrera was compensated and the amount of compensation for each course of instruction: 

Positive Leadership (Fall 2015) $9,817.00 
TSA Course (Fall 2015) $6,750.00    
Positive Leadership (Spring 2016)   $6,402.00 

Details are available at the Board’s request. 

C-22



 

George Mason University  

Board of Visitors 

 

Development Committee Meeting 

December 8, 2016 

9:30 a.m. – 10:30 a.m. 

Merten Hall, Room 1203, Fairfax Campus  

 

A G E N D A  

 

 
I. Call to Order 

 

II. Approval of Development Committee Meeting Minutes from October 13, 2016 

(ACTION ITEM) 

 

III.  New Business 

A. GMUF Chair Update – Jay O’Brien 

B. Basketball Fundraising – Coach Dave Paulsen 

C. Campaign Report – David Long 

D. Alumni Golden Anniversary – Chris Clark-Talley  

E. Advancement Report – Janet Bingham 

 

IV.  Old Business 

 

V. Closed Session 

A. Gifts, Bequests, and Fundraising Activities (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.8) 

 

VI.  Adjournment 



Board of Visitors 

Development Committee 

October 13, 2016 

 

D-2 

 

George Mason University  

Board of Visitors 

 

Development Committee Meeting 

October 13, 2016 

11:10 a.m. – 12:10 p.m. 

Merten Hall, Room 1203, Fairfax Campus  

 

Meeting Minutes 

 

 

Attendees: Chairman James (Jimmy) W. Hazel, Visitor Lisa Zuccari, Visitor Kelly McNamara-

Corley, Visitor Wendy Marquez 

 

Absent: Visitor Tracy Schar 

 

Additional Attendees: Rector Tom Davis, President Ángel Cabrera, Visitor Jon Peterson, Vice 

President Janet Bingham, Faculty Representative Alan Abramson, Faculty Representative Keith 

Renshaw, Student Representative Nathan Pittleman, GMUF Board of Trustees Chair Jay 

O’Brien, GMUF Trustee J.P. Phaup, UBS Senior Institutional Consultant Arun Sardana  

 

VII. Call to Order 

 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Jimmy Hazel at 11:10 a.m. 

 

VIII. Approval of Development Committee Meeting Minutes from May 5, 2016 

(ACTION ITEM) 

 

Chairman Hazel called for a motion to approve the meeting minutes from  

May 5, 2016. A MOTION was made, SECONDED, and the MOTION CARRIED 

UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE.  
 

IX.  New Business 

F. GMUF Chair Update – Jay O’Brien 

 

George Mason University Foundation Chairman Jay O’Brien provided an update 

on the activities of the GMUF. Among the items, Chairman O’Brien shared that 

in fiscal year 2016, the Foundation distributed $55.2 million for the benefit of the 

university compared to $43.9 million in fiscal year 2015.  

 

G. Campaign Update – David Long  

 

Mr. David Long reported that the campaign has raised $465 million to date. In 

addition, he reported that the Office of University Advancement and Alumni 

Relations has formed a collection of cross-department working groups to address 



Board of Visitors 

Development Committee 

October 13, 2016 

 

D-3 

 

issues related to operations and resource needs.  Groups include the following 

areas of focus: 

o Alumni Engagement 

o Alumni Giving 

o Communications 

o Operating Structure/Fundraising 

                 

H. Alumni Weekend – Chris Clark-Talley  

 

Ms. Clark-Talley reviewed the schedule of events for the upcoming Sixth Annual 

Alumni Weekend, October 14-17, 2016.  

 

X.  Old Business 

 

Chairman Hazel briefly described his impressions of the recent Antonin Scalia Law 

School dedication event. The event was a huge success that garnered national news 

coverage.  

 

Dr. Janet Bingham thanked her staff and complimented them for doing a successful job 

with limited resources. The past three years have seen banner growth in Mason’s 

fundraising efforts. The department is using its resources wisely. 

 

Chairman Hazel called for a MOTION to move into closed session. A MOTION was 

made, SECONDED, and the MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE 

VOTE. 

 

XI. Closed Session 

B. Gifts, Bequests, and Fundraising Activities (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.8) 

 

Chairman Hazel called for a MOTION to return to open session. A MOTION was 

made, SECONDED, and the MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE 

VOTE. 

 

Returning from closed session, Chairman Hazel requested a roll call. Roll call was taken 

with all present members responding in the affirmative. 

 

XII.  Adjournment 

 

There being no further business, Chairman Hazel asked for a motion to close the meeting.  

A MOTION was made, SECONDED, and the MOTION CARRIED 

UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE. The meeting was adjourned at 12:11 p.m. 

 

 

 

 



Board of Visitors 

Development Committee 

October 13, 2016 

 

D-4 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 Naomi Arlund 

 Secretary, pro tem 

 

 



E-1

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF VISITORS 

Finance and Land Use Committee Meeting 
December 8, 2016 

AGENDA 

I. Call to Order

II. Approval of Minutes for October 13, 2016 (ACTION) E-3

III. Financial Overview……………………………………………………………………E-9 

IV. Strategic Matters
A. Commonwealth Enhanced Capital Authority Pilot Program (ACTION)….....E-11 
B. Reserve Policy Update………………………………………………….…..…E-15 

V. Operational Issues
A. Investment Policy Committee Update E-17
B. Police and Public Safety Update………………………………………………E-19 

VI. Adjournment

APPENDIX A  Capital Projects Review 
APPENDIX B  Unaudited FY 2016 Financial Statements 



 

E-2 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 



E-9 
 

ITEM NUMBER III.:  FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 
 
 
PURPOSE OF ITEM: To brief the Board of Visitors on updates as we look 

forward with a discussion on the FY 2018 budget 
development, strategies and initiatives.  In addition, 
to discuss the annual review of the University’s 
financial metrics. 

 
       
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE 
 
 
BRIEF NARRATIVE: The Senior Vice President for Administration and 

Finance will start the conversation regarding 
upcoming financial matters that will come before 
the Board of Visitors for consideration and 
deliberation in the December 2016 – May 2017 
timeframe. The matters include, but are not limited 
to, the Commonwealth budget, tuition policy and 
other operational matters. 

 
In addition, there will be an annual review of the 
Board of Visitor’s approved financial metrics. 
Specifically, the metrics cover four ratios along 
with additional metrics related to Philanthropic 
Support and State Funding Disparity. 

 
The four ratios mentioned above are: 
 
A. Expendable Financial Resources to Debt 
B. Expendable Financial Resources to Operations 
C. Debt Service Burden 
D. Operating Cash Flow Margin 
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: For board information only.    
  



E-10 
 

This page left intentionally blank. 



 

E-11 
 

ITEM NUMBER: IV.A.:   COMMONWEALTH ENHANCED CAPITAL 
AUTHORITY PILOT PROGRAM (ACTION) 

 
 
PURPOSE OF ITEM: This item requests Board approval of delegation of certain 

capital project authority from the Commonwealth of 
Virginia to the University. 

 
 
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE 
  
 Chapter 780, 2016 Acts of Assembly, §4-9.02 provides 

authority for George Mason University to exercise 
additional authority in the management of capital 
projects under a five-year pilot program.  The language 
provided in Chapter 780 directs the University to 
comply with Chapters 824 and 829 of the 2008 Acts of 
the Assembly. 

 
 This delegated authority will provide the University with 

streamlined local oversight and approval of capital 
projects not funded by the Commonwealth.  Specifically, 
this delegated authority will allow for local: 

 
 Funds allocation 
 Contract type selection (Invitation for bids, 

Construction Manager at Risk, Design-Build, etc.) 
 Award of cooperative contracts 

 
 Flexibility and shorter approval timeframes throughout 

execution will speed project delivery for these non-
general fund projects.  Any project funded in whole or in 
part by the Commonwealth must continue to follow 
existing Department of Planning and Budget processes. 

 
 While this delegated authority grants the University the 

opportunity to establish its own local Building Official 
Office (thereby eliminating the use of the Bureau of 
Capital Outlay Management on these projects), the 
investment required to establish such an office for a five 
year period makes this impractical.  Should the five-year 
pilot evolve into permanent authority, the University 
may explore this opportunity. 

 
 The University will follow all applicable policies and 

laws in the Virginia Public Procurement Act (VPPA) 



 

E-12 
 

and the Construction and Professional Services Manual 
(CPSM) in establishing its local Non-general fund 
capital policies. 

 
 At the October 2016 BOV meeting, staff presented a 

summary of the local authorization steps necessary to 
implement this local authority.  The Board delegated 
detailed review of these procedures to two committee 
members.  At the upcoming December meeting, staff 
and these two committee members will summarize this 
review and seek approval of the delegated authority. 

 
 One element of delegated authority is the requirement 

for the Board of Visitors to specifically approve the 
University’s process for choosing the construction 
contract to be used for each capital project.  The 
attachment outlines this proposed contract selection 
process. 

 
 
 STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve delegation of certain capital authority as 

 discussed with identified committee members and 
 as presented in the December meeting. 

 
  Approve the attached procurement selection 

 procedures. 



George Mason University 
Facilities Procedures 

 
 

 
Construction Procurement Approval Process for Capital Project Delivery 

 
Date: December 2016 Version: 1.0 

E-13 
 

 
 
 
Purpose: 
 
Pursuant to Subchapter 3 of the Restructuring Act and in accordance with Chapter 780 Item §4-4.01, 
the following process outlines the steps George Mason University staff takes in selecting appropriate 
procurement types for capital projects.   
 
Responsible Staff: 
 
Director, Campus Planning – the Facilities Division responsible for the development and management 
of the university’s Capital Plan and its Capital Outlay Projects.  Recommends procurement delivery 
method for each capital project. 
 
Assistant Director of Facility Contracts Management – administers the capital outlay procurement 
process, reviews delivery method options, and manages contract development, approval, execution 
and document retention.  
 
Vice President, Facilities – approves project delivery methods and recommends contracts for 
execution.  
 
Procedure: 
 
The university shall have and shall exercise all authority relating to the procurement of goods, 
services, insurance, and construction.  Procurement procedures for professional and construction 
services are identified in documentation adopted by George Mason University as approved by the 
Board of Visitors.  
 
The construction delivery method for a capital outlay project shall be approved in writing by the George 
Mason University Vice President for Facilities. 
 
For all capital projects, a written recommendation for the project delivery method will be provided to the 
Vice President, Facilities from the Director of Campus Planning through the Assistant Director for 
Facility Contracts Management.  Consistent with Commonwealth of Virginia law, firm, fixed-price sealed 
bidding is the preferred construction contract type.  If competitive sealed bidding is not selected, the 
written recommendation will justify why sealed bidding is not practicable and/or is not fiscally 
advantageous to the university. The following critical components will be considered in recommending 
the appropriate construction delivery method for each project: 
 

 Technical complexity and building use 
 Required experience with specialty systems or equipment 
 Schedule, schedule challenges, and critical completion dates 
 Coordination of phased or fast track construction  



E-14 
 

 Potential for early packages to expedite overall project completion 
 Early procurement of long lead time materials or equipment 
 Continuity of university operations and utility systems 
 Minimizing disruption to academic and research programs  
 Campus security and limited access to restricted areas 
 Cost, cost control, and cost efficiencies  
 Prequalification for specialty systems, materials or equipment expertise  
 Design phase constructability analysis for cost savings and quality control 
 Continuous value engineering to achieve budget 
 Project staffing requirements 
 Risk reduction  
 Overall benefits to the university  

 
General Guidelines 
 
The following general guidelines shall apply in the selection of construction procurement methods other 
than formal bidding:  
 

 Use of construction management or design-build is typically limited to projects with a 
construction value of $10,000,000 or more.  The VP, Facilities may grant waivers to this 
threshold on a case by case basis after assessing the critical components listed above. 

 A construction management contract will be initiated no later than the completion of the project 
schematic design phase unless prohibited by authorization of funding restrictions.  

 The Request for Qualifications for a design-build or construction management procurement will 
include language to substantiate the selection of the construction delivery method.   

 The Request for Qualifications will include criteria for contractor selection. 
 The Request for Qualifications evaluation process will result in a short list of two to five offerors 

to receive the Request for Proposals.  
 The Request for Qualifications will be posted for no less than 30 days on eVA, the 

Commonwealth statewide electronic procurement system.  It will include a justification to support 
why sealed bidding is not practicable and/or fiscally advantageous.  The approved procurement 
method will be identified in the eVA posting as the “category” for the solicitation.   
 

Reporting 
 
The university will report on selected project delivery methods annually or as required by law or upon 
request by the Department of General Services.    
 
Approval and Revisions: 



E-15 
 

ITEM NUMBER IV.B.:  RESERVE POLICY UPDATE 
 
 
PURPOSE OF ITEM: To share with the Board of Visitors the outline and 

development of a management policy that will cover the 
University’s practice as it relates to operating and facility 
reserves. 

 
       
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE 
 
 
BRIEF NARRATIVE: The Senior Vice President for Administration and Finance 

will start the conversation regarding operating and facility 
reserves.  As Mason continues to grow, there is increasing 
pressure to maintain adequate reserves for both operating 
and facilities.  Articles referencing Higher Education from 
credit rating agencies continues to focus on the financial 
capabilities of institutions of higher education.  The why 
and what of having reserves are intertwined and is 
fundamental to an organization’s financial health.   
 
Reserves are an important mechanism for the University to 
ensure its financial health, stability and future growth of its 
operations and programs as well as to manage its risks. 
Reserves shall be designated to key priorities and 
opportunities of strategic importance which links the 
amount and use of reserves to the University’s mission and 
strategic goals.  The presence of reserves increases an 
organization’s ability to take mission-related risks and to 
respond to temporary changes in it environment or 
circumstances such as an unanticipated event of significant 
unbudgeted losses in operating revenues.   
 
Without reserves, an organization can find itself in cash 
flow stress and become distracted from good long-term 
decision-making and planning or forced to make expensive 
short-term crisis-based decisions.  The University seeks to 
build and grow its reserves to strengthen its overall 
financial profile. 
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: For board information only.  
  



E-16 
 

This page left intentionally blank. 
    



E-17 
 

ITEM NUMBER: V.A.: INVESTMENT POLICY COMMITTEE 
ANNUAL UPDATE (DECEMBER 2016)  

 
 
PURPOSE OF ITEM: The Investment Policy Statement for the 

University’s Optional Retirement and Cash Match 
Plans requires that the Investment Policy 
Committee (IPC) report annually to the BOV the 
additions, deletions or changes in investment 
options made available to faculty and staff under the 
Plans. 

 
 
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE 
 
 
BRIEF NARRATIVE:  The University provides certain investment options 
  under the Plans. The IPC, with the assistance of an 

investment consultant, periodically reviews the 
  performance of the funds in the plans to ensure they 
  continue to meet Investment Policy Statement 
  Guidelines.   
 
  Over the last year, the IPC, along with the 

University’s investment consultant: 
 

 Worked with vendors to reduce fees for both 
plans through the lowering of several share 
classes.  

 Closed and mapped all mutual fund assets on 
the TIAA platform that were invested in non-
approved/frozen funds representing three funds 
and $9.6 million in assets. 

 Will be freezing contributions to the CREF 
Money Market Fund while adding another 
money market fund on the TIAA platform. 

 Added several passively managed Vanguard 
fund options. 

 Discussed changes to the Investment Policy 
Statement that will be presented to the BOV at 
an upcoming 2017 meeting. 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: For board information only. 
  



E-18 
 

This page left intentionally blank. 



E-19 
 

ITEM NUMBER V.B.:                                 POLICE AND PUBLIC SAFETY UPDATE 
 
 
PURPOSE OF THE ITEM:                   To highlight the challenges and achievements and  
  goals of the George Mason University Police and  
  Public Safety Department. 
 
 
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE:             FINANCE AND LAND USE      
 
 
BRIEF NARRATIVE:                               The George Mason University Police and Public  
  Safety Department has initiated and brought to  
  fruition several important initiatives during FY  
  2017 that will continue into FY 2018. These   
  include, but are not limited to: 
 
                                                                        Community Policing Initiative: The department is  
  being reorganized to include a Community Policing  
  Team to focus on rapid response to requests for  
  service or training from the Mason community. 
 
                                                                      Recruiting Initiative: The Mason police have also  
  initiated an improved recruiting program to better  
  compete for new police recruits and lateral transfers 
  from other departments. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   For board information only.  
  



E-20 
 

This page left intentionally blank. 
 
 
                                                                          
 



E-21 
 

APPENDIX A:  Capital Projects Review 
 
 
 

This section provides the regular report on the status of capital construction projects on all three 
university campuses.  The project “stoplight” chart provides a summary review.  For purposes of 
black and white printing, all stoplights are “Green” unless otherwise noted. Scoring definitions: 
 

 “Red”: Likely to exceed approved budget, schedule, or scope 
 “Yellow”: At risk to exceed approved budget, schedule, or scope, but can still recover 
 “Green”: Within approved budget, schedule, or scope 
 “White”: on-hold 

 
Changes/updates since the October 2016 report include: 
 

 Health Sciences/Academic VII – Scheduled opening Fall of 2017; however, the contractor 
is currently projecting to be 90 days behind schedule. We believe a portion of this delay 
will be absorbed within the remaining duration of construction. The contractor identified 
changes that are currently being evaluated. We believe that there are funding sources within 
the current budget to cover the vast majority of these changes.  

 
 Johnson Center Dining Phase 2 – Preliminary design documents are complete and working 

drawings will be submitted to BCOM shortly.  Scope and budget on the Stoplight chart 
were changed to reflect the addition of design and construction of the patio on the west 
side of the building.  Project is scheduled to be complete in time for the 2017 fall semester. 

 
 Robinson Hall/Utility Distribution Infrastructure – The University secured an anticipation 

loan from the Commonwealth to fund the University’s share of the Utility project in 
advance of sale of bonds in 2017.  Resulting from this, design and construction 
management contracts were awarded this period.  As of this writing, funds have not been 
received for the Robinson Hall portion of the project.  This lack of authorized funding has 
put the project schedule at risk.  Impacts to construction costs have yet to be determined. 

 
  



E-22 
 

This page left intentionally blank. 
 
 
 
 

 



E-24 
 

This page left intentionally blank. 



E-25 
 

APPENDIX B:  Unaudited FY 2016 Financial Statements 

 

To provide the Board information regarding the University’s annual financial statements. 
 
 
The University’s unaudited financial statements have been submitted to the Commonwealth’s 
Department of Accounts and are posted at:  
 
 
http://fiscal.gmu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/GMU-FY-16-Financial-Statements-Unaudited.pdf 
 
 
The audit is typically conducted during January through March each year. 
   



E-26 
 

This page left intentionally blank. 

 
































